







Common Household Foods that **Should Not** be Given to Dogs or Cats

Stéphane Bissonnette, DVM, MSc

Judith A. Taylor, DVM, DVSc, Diplomate ACVP (Clinical Pathology)

2014 Edition



Veterinary Case Consultation

Exclusive for Veterinary Team Members

- √ Technical information on products
- ✓ Nutritional advice
- ✓ Internal medicine consultation
- √ Advice on Canadian Veterinary Urolith Centre reports

1-866-567-7088





COMMON HOUSEHOLD FOODS THAT SHOULD NOT BE GIVEN TO DOGS OR CATS

STÉPHANE BISSONNETTE, DMV, MSc JUDITH A. TAYLOR, DVM, DVSc, DIPLOMATE ACVP (Clinical Pathology)

2014 EDITION

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ALCOHOL | 2 |
|---|---|
| Avocado | 2 |
| Bones of Any Type | 2 |
| CHEWING GUM | 3 |
| CHOCOLATE | 3 |
| COFFEE AND TEA | 3 |
| CYANIDE FROM DIFFERENT PLANTS | 3 |
| GRAPES | 4 |
| Green Tomatoes and Potatoes | 4 |
| Hops | 5 |
| Macadamia Nuts | 5 |
| MILK | 5 |
| Moldy Foods | 5 |
| ONION, GARLIC, LEEK, CHINESE CHIVES: VEGETABLES FROM THE ALLIUM GENUS | 6 |





| Oxalate-Containing Foods | 6 |
|---|---|
| PIT FROM STONE FRUITS (AVOCADO, PEACHES, PLUMS, ETC.) | 6 |
| RAW BREAD DOUGH OF ANY TYPE | 7 |
| RAW MEAT | 7 |
| RAW EGGS | 7 |
| Salt | 7 |
| Useful Resources | 7 |
| REFERENCES | 8 |





COMMON HOUSEHOLD FOODS THAT SHOULD NOT BE GIVEN TO DOGS OR CATS

Many pet owners offer their companion animal food they are eating ("table-scraps"), not realizing this could result in a dramatic outcome. They are unaware that some common foods pose a serious threat to dogs or cats, due to food-related intestinal damage or obstruction, species-specific sensitivities, or differences in metabolism compared to humans.

Here is a list of common household food that should be considered a potential health threat to dogs or cats.

ALCOHOL

Alcoholic drinks and some foods contain alcohol in different concentrations. The alcohol in question is ethanol (ethyl alcohol) which, upon consumption, may lead to intoxication depending on the amount ingested. The most common clinical signs include disorders of the central nervous system (decreased reflexes, ataxia, depression), polyuria, vomiting, and diarrhea. More severe cases will exhibit dyspnea, tremors, metabolic acidosis, coma, and ultimately death (Lee 2011).

AVOCADO

Avocado (Persea americana) is known to be toxic to birds, but there are some reports of intoxication in various other species. The toxic principle is persin, a toxin found not only in the fruit, but also in the seeds, leaves, and bark of the plant itself. Even if it is reported that avocado may cause vomiting and diarrhea in dogs (ASPCA Animal Poison Control Center), it would not be considered as poisonous to dogs or cats (Pet Poison Helpline). Avocado toxicity has however been suspected in two dogs presenting with histories of dyspnea, progressively enlarging abdomen, ascites, pleural and pericardial effusion, and pulmonary oedema (Buoro 1994).

If swallowed whole, the pit can obstruct the digestive tract (oesophagus, small intestine).

BONES OF ANY TYPE

Bones, especially sharp fragments and thin, fragile ones (like chicken and fish bones), are improper treats for dogs since they may obstruct or perforate the intestines causing leakage of intestinal contents and potential life-threatening local and systemic infections. Clinical signs vary from cough, vomiting, anorexia, and abdominal pain to depression, weakness, hematemesis, hematochezia, melena, shock and death.





CHEWING GUM

Many varieties of sugar-free chewing gums contain xylitol, a naturally occurring sugar alcohol sweetener used as a sugar substitute. It is also found in candies, mints, flavored multi-vitamins, desserts, baked goods and toothpaste. In dogs, xylitol strongly promotes insulin release, which can lead to severe hypoglycemia (Dunayer & Gwaltney-Brant 2006). Clinical signs include lethargy, ataxia, vomiting, collapse, and seizures. Some dogs develop acute liver failure (hepatic necrosis), and may experience disorders of blood clotting leading to hemorrhage, disseminated intravascular coagulation (D.I.C.), and often death (Dunayer 2004; Dunayer & Gwaltney-Brant 2006; Dunayer 2011).

CHOCOLATE

Chocolate comes from the transformation of cocoa products (bean, butter). It contains theobromine, which is a methylxanthine alkaloid. The methylxanthine content is highly dependent upon the type of chocolate: the darker the chocolate, the higher the theobromine content. Theobromine acts by competitively inhibiting cellular adenosine receptors, which results in central nervous system stimulation and tachycardia (Gwaltney-Brant 2001). Depending on the dose ingested, methylxanthines can induce hyperactivity, tachycardia, arrhythmia, hyperthermia, panting, tachypnea, vomiting, diarrhea, polyuria, polydipsia, hyperreflexia, muscle rigidity, tremors, seizures, and potentially death (Dunayer 2008; Butler 2012).

COFFEE AND TEA

Coffee and tea are rich in caffeine, which is also a methylxanthine alkaloid, similar to theobromine in chocolate. Toxicity mechanism and clinical signs are the same.

CYANIDE FROM DIFFERENT PLANTS

Cyanogenic glycosides are found in many plants. Their degradation through enzymatic processes of digestion produces hydrogen cyanide, which could result in cyanide poisoning (CFIA 2012; NZFSA 2012). Examples of cyanoglycosides are amygdalin, found in the seeds of many fruits of the *Rosaceae* family (apple and pear seeds, almonds, seeds of many stone fruits); linamarin, found in cassava tuber and leaves (better known under the names of manioc, yucca or tapioca), Lima beans and flax seed meal; dhurrin, found in sorghum leaves; and taxiphyllin, found in young bamboo shoots (Shragg 1982; Haque & Bradbury 2002; EFSA 2004; Simeonova & Fishbein 2004). The seed of stone fruits (apricot, cherry, nectarine, peach, plum) is contained in the pit, in the form of an almond-looking kernel. Note that sweet almonds dedicated to human consumption are low in amygdalin as a result of breeding processes (NZFSA 2012).

The level of amygdalin in fruit seeds is however quite low (EFSA 2004), and intoxication would require consumption of a large amount (depending on the animal's size). Also, the kernel in stone fruits' pit is usually hardly accessible. Proper preparation and cooking of cassava roots, bamboo shoots and other plants usually render them safe for consumption (CFIA 2012).





Depending on the dose, clinical signs of acute cyanide poisoning include weakness, dyspnea, stupor, hypothermia, cyanosis, convulsion, coma and death (Sayre & Kaymakcalavu 1964; Rubino & Davidoff 1979; Lasch & El Shawa 1981; Vogel 1981; Moertel 1982; Suchard 1989; CICAD 2004; EFSA 2004). Chronic poisoning can induce ambivalence, slower response to stimuli, malnutrition, hyperglycemia, congenital malformations, neurological disorders and myelopathy (Vogel 1981; Jackson 1988; EFSA 2004).

Note that ingestion of stone fruits' pit can cause upper respiratory and gastrointestinal tract obstruction (see below).

GRAPES

Acute renal failure has been reported in dogs and cats following ingestion of grapes (the fruits of the plant *Vitis vinifera*), or any derivative of the fruit including raisins, sultanas and currants (Gwaltney-Brant 2001; Porterpan 2005). The toxic principle remains unidentified yet (Means 2002; Ajub 2004), but unpublished data indicates that the toxic component is water-soluble, and contained within the flesh of the fruit (not the seed). It is still undetermined yet if grape juice ingestion poses a health hazard. Not all dogs and cats seem susceptible since some dogs appear to tolerate large amounts of grapes and raisins without showing any clinical signs. Individual risk factors could be involved in patients developing toxicity. Clinical signs include oliguria, anuria, lethargy, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, anorexia, and dehydration (Butler 2012).

GREEN TOMATOES AND POTATOES

Many food plants from the family *Solanaceae*, as tomatoes and potatoes, contain solanine, a glycoalkaloid that can reach toxic level under certain circumstances (Bohta 2008). Solanine is essentially concentrated in the plant itself (Jauron 2004).

Consumption of the tuber from potato plant (*Solanum tuberosum*) is generally safe, however the solanine concentration is high in the sprouts ("eyes"), and may increase in the tuber following exposure to light, mechanical damages, improper storage conditions, and sprouting. When exposed to light, tubers will turn green because of chlorophyll synthesis, which therefore constitutes an indicator of toxicity. Cooking does not destroy the toxins (*Sharma 1989*). Potato also contains chaconine, a glycoalkaloid related to solanine (*Badowski 1999*).

In tomato (Solanum lycopersicum), solanine is also present in the green, unripe fruit. The level dramatically decreases with ripening (Van Wyk 2002).

Clinical signs of solanine and chaconine intoxication include vomiting, diarrhea, muscle tremors, anxiousness, opisthotonos and seizures (Singh 2008).





HOPS

Hops (*Humulus lupulus*) is used in the process of brewing beer. Pets living in house where home brewing is performed could be exposed. The toxic principle is unknown yet. Clinical signs include anxiety, tachycardia, tachypnea, panting, hyperthermia, vomiting, abdominal pain, clotting abnormalities, seizures and death. Considering the malignant hyperthermia-like presentation, breeds at risk for malignant hyperthermia (ex. greyhounds, northern breeds) may be at greater risk (Duncan 1997; Pet Poison Helpline).

MACADAMIA NUTS

Macadamia nuts have been reported to induce weakness, depression, vomiting, ataxia, tremors, and hyperthermia, usually within the first 12 hours after ingestion (Hansen 2000; Hansen 2002). The toxic principle is currently unknown.

MILK

Some cats and dogs have, or develop lactase enzyme deficiency leading to lactose intolerance (Sahi 1994). Clinical signs reflect gastrointestinal upset, mainly diarrhea and vomiting (ASPCA Animal Poison Control Center).

MOLDY FOODS

Moldy foods are usually eaten inadvertently by pets, and roaming dogs are evidently more prone to it because they are more exposed to spoiled food in garbage. The toxicity is due to certain toxins produced by various species of molds.

Tremorgenic mycotoxins, such as penitrem A and roquefortine C (Schell 2000; Young 2003), are produced by different types of molds, mainly Aspergillus, Claviceps and Penicillium species. Molds can grow on almost any type of food such as dairy products, nuts, vegetables and grains. Penitrem A toxicity results from an increase in neuronal resting potential, a facilitation of transmission across motor end plates, and a prolongation in the duration of depolarization (Butler 2012). Clinical signs of toxicity include vomiting, panting, hyperactivity, hypersalivation, tachycardia, behavior alterations, depression, incoordination, and fine muscle tremors starting over the face and head that may rapidly progress to more severe tremors of the entire body and seizures, pulmonary oedema and coma. Usually, death occurs within 2 to 4 hours, and is generally secondary to respiratory compromise, metabolic acidosis or hyperthermia.

Aflatoxins are metabolites produced by some Aspergillus fungus species. Apart from their carcinogenic, mutagenic and immunosuppressive properties, they have potent toxic effects. Aflatoxins are rapidly absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract and extensively metabolized by the liver into





epoxide, which induces oxidative damages especially into the liver, resulting in hepatic necrosis and potentially subsequent liver failure. Aflatoxicosis cases have been documented in dogs. Clinical signs include anorexia, depression, weakness, vomiting, bloody diarrhea, oliguria, ascites, disseminated intravascular coagulation, icterus, hemorrhage, and anemia (Ketterer 1975; Hagiwara 1990; Dunayer 2011).

Onion, Garlic, Leek, Chinese Chives: Vegetables From the Allium Genus

Allium species contain various organosulphurated compounds. After ingestion, those compounds are metabolized to highly reactive oxidants (Amagase 2001), which generate oxidative damage to the hemoglobin molecules within erythrocytes. When their concentration exceeds the antioxidant capacity of the red blood cells, hemolysis occurs (Cheeke 1998). Dogs are susceptible to Allium intoxication due to the low antioxidant activity of their erythrocytes' catalase (Nakamura 1998). Feline hemoglobin contains a higher number of sulfhydryl groups and is about 2 to 3 times more susceptible to oxidative damages than other species' (Harvey 1976). Toxicosis has been reported in dogs and cats following ingestion of fresh, dried, or powdered plant material (Cope 2005), as well as in cats fed commercial baby food containing onion powder (Robertson 1998).

Cooking does not reduce the toxicity potential of those vegetables (Burrows 2001).

<u>Please note</u>: The *Allium* genus belongs to the *Liliaceae* family. Many domestic and wild plants belong to this family, such as lilies and tulips, and the ingestion of some / all of their parts (especially the bulb) could also be hazardous to dogs or cats (Fitzgerald 2010; Slater & Gwaltney-Brant 2011).

OXALATE-CONTAINING FOODS

Many foods contain various levels of oxalate, which could lead to calcium oxalate crystalluria and urolithiasis. Those foods are mostly from vegetal origin (vegetables, fruits, legumes, cereals, nuts, seeds, grains), but some dairy products and sweets, candy, desserts and baked goods may also contain some oxalate. All Bran® cereals, almonds and many types of nuts, beets, buckwheat flour, chocolate soy milk, miso, rhubarb leaves, sesame seeds, spinach, Swiss chard, and tahini are listed to be amongst the foods having very high level of oxalate. Please refer to the Oxalosis and Hyperoxaluria Foundation website (http://ohf.org/diet.html) for a more extensive list of foods regarding their oxalate content.

PIT FROM STONE FRUITS (AVOCADO, PEACHES, PLUMS, ETC.)

Large pits from fruits pose a choking hazard as they may obstruct the oesophagus, small intestine, or the upper respiratory tract. Clinical signs include cough, dyspnea, apnea, collapse, anorexia, vomiting, diarrhea, abdominal pain, and depression.





RAW BREAD DOUGH OF ANY TYPE

Baker's yeast (Saccharomyces cerevisiae) is added to raw bread dough as a leavening agent. In converting fermentable sugars into carbon dioxide gas, they cause the dough to expand as gas bubbles form. Eaten raw, bread dough may expand to many times its original volume, potentially creating an obstruction of the digestive tract. Clinical signs may include abdominal pain, bloating, vomiting, incoordination and depression (Means 2003).

The fermentation process also produces ethanol, which could lead to ethanol toxicosis (see "Alcohol").

RAW MEAT

Ingestion of uncooked meat could pose a major health threat to pets as it could contain toxigenic bacteria, such, as for *E. coli* (mainly in beef) and *Salmonella spp.* (mainly in poultry). Regular and frequent handling of such products could also pose a human threat due to skin and surface contamination as a result of daily preparation of the meat for consumption.

RAW EGGS

Raw egg white contains avidin, an enzyme decreasing biotin absorption (Wedekind 2010). Deficiency in biotin mainly leads to hair loss, xerodermia, and squamosis, but could also cause weakness, growth delay, or skeletal deformity (Wedekind 2010; Miller 2013).

SALT

Significant consumption of salt leads to polyuria and polydipsia and could interfere with the metabolism of some drugs such as KBr (Verneau 2012). Excessive salt ingestion through products like salt dough could lead to sodium ion poisoning, for which clinical signs include vomiting, diarrhea, depression, tremors, hyperthermia, seizures, and potentially death (Kasai & King 2009).

USEFUL RESOURCES

Animal Poison Control Center: http://www.aspca.org/pet-care/poison-control/

Pet Poison Helpline: http://www.petpoisonhelpline.com

VIN - Guide to Common Poison Emergencies:

http://www.vin.com/Members/CMS/document/default.aspx?pid=219&catid=&objectid=11873&objecttypeid=10&redirectFromMiscDefault=1&calc=





REFERENCES

Ajub C, Stankevicins L, da Costa V, et al. Genotoxic evaluation of a vinifera skin extract that present pharmacological activities. Food Chem Toxicol 2004;42:969-973.

Amagase H, Petesch BL, Matsuura H, et al. Intake of garlic and its bioactive components. J Nutr 2001;131:955S-962S.

ASPCA [Internet]. Urbana: ASPCA Animal Poison Control Center; 2012. People Foods to Avoid Feeding Your Pets [cited 2012 Nov 8]. Available from http://www.aspca.org/pet-care/poison-control/people-foods.aspx

Badowski P, Urbanek-Karlowska B. Solanine and chaconine: occurrence, properties, methods for determination. Rocz Panstw Zakl Hig 1999;50:69-75.

Botha CJ, Penrith ML. Poisonous plants of veterinary and human importance in southern Africa. J Ethnopharmacol 2008;119:549-558.

Buoro IB, Nyamwange SB, Chai D, et al. Putative avocado toxicity in two dogs. Onderstepoort J Vet Res 1994;61:107-109.

Burrows GE, Tyrl RJ. Liliaceae. In: Toxic Plants of North America. Ames, US: Iowa State University Press; 2001. p. 751-805.

Butler A. Toxicology: the good, the bad, and the ugly. In: Proceedings AAHA Conference; 2012; Denver, CO.

CFIA [Internet]. Ottawa: Canadian Food Inspection Agency; 2012. Natural Toxins in Fresh Fruit and Vegetables [updated 2012 Mar 20; cited 2012 Nov 10]. Available from http://www.inspection.gc.ca/food/consumer-centre/food-safety-tips/specific-products-and-risks/natural-toxins/eng/1332276569292/1332276685336

Cheeke PR. Natural Toxicants in Feeds, Forages, and Poisonous Plants. 2nd ed. Danville, US: Interstate Publishers; 1998.

Cope RB. Allium species poisoning in dogs and cats. Vet Med 2005;100:562-566.

Dunayer EK. Household Hazards. In: Morgan RV, editor. Handbook of Small Animal Practice. 5th ed. St. Louis, US: Elsevier; 2008. p. 1205.

Dunayer EK. Hypoglycemia following canine ingestion of xylitol-containing gum. Vet Hum Toxicol 2004;46:87-88.

Dunayer EK, Gwaltney-Brant SM. Acute hepatic failure and coagulopathy associated with xylitol ingestion in eight dogs. J Am Med Assoc 2006;229:1113-1117.

Dunayer E, Center S, Gaschen F. Canine contemporary hepatotoxins: environmental toxins xylitol, aflatoxin and cycad seed. In: Proceedings 29th ACVIM Forum; 2011; Denver, CO.

Duncan KL, Hare WR, Buck WB. Malignant hyperthermia-like reaction secondary to ingestion of hops in five dogs. J Am Vet Med Assoc 1997; 210:51-54.

EFSA. Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Food Additives, Flavourings, Processing Aids and Materials in Contact with Food (AFC) on Hydrocyanic Acid in Flavourings and other Food Ingredients with Flavouring Properties. Question no EFSA-Q-2003-0145. EFSA J 2004;105.

Fitzgerald KT. Lily toxicity in the cat. Top Companion Anim Med 2010;25:213-217.

Gwaltney-Brant SM. Chocolate intoxication. Vet Med 2001;96:108-111.

Gwaltney-Brant SM, Holding JK, Donaldson CW, et al. Renal failure associated with ingestion of grapes or raisins in dogs. J Am Vet Med Assoc 2001;218:1555-1556.

Hagiwara MK, Kogika MM, Malucelli BE. Disseminated intravascular coagulation in dogs with aflatoxicosis. J Small Anim Pract 1990;31:239-243.

Hansen SR. Macadamia nut toxicosis in dogs. Vet Med 2002;97:274-276.

Hansen SR, Buck WB, Meerdink G, et al. Weakness, tremors, and depression associated with macadamia nuts in dogs. Vet Hum Toxicol 2000;42:18-21.

Haque MR, Bradbury JH. Total cyanide determination of plants and foods using the picrate and acid hydrolysis methods. Food Chem 2002;77:107-114.

Harvey JW, Kaneko JJ. Oxidation of human and animal haemoglobins with ascorbate, acetylphenylhydrazine, nitrite, and hydrogen peroxide. Br J Haematol 1976;32:193-203.

Jackson LC. Behavioural effects of chronic sublethal dietary cyanide in an animal model: Implications for humans consuming cassava (Mnihot esculenta). Hum Biol 1988;60:597-614.

Jauron R. Tomato-like fruit on potato plants. Horticulture & Home Pest News. 2004 July.

Kasai CM, King R. Hypernatremia. Compend Contin Educ Pract Vet. 2009;31:E1-7.





Ketterrer PJ, Williams ES, Blaney BJ, et al. Canine aflatoxicosis. Aust Vet J 1975;51:355-357.

Lasch EE, El Shawa R. Multiple cases of cyanide poisoning by apricot kernels in children from Gaza. Pediatrics 1981;68:5-7.

Lee JA. Top 20 toxic titans and how to treat them, Part 2. In: Proceedings AAHA/OVMA Conference; 2011; Toronto, Canada.

Means C. Bread dough toxicosis in dogs. J Vet Emerg Crit Care 2003;13:39-41.

Means C. The Wrath of Grapes. ASPCA Animal Watch 2002;22.

Miller WH, Griffin CE, Campbell KL. Nutrition and Skin Disease. In: Miller WH, Griffin CE, Campbell KL, editors. Muller and Kirk's Small Animal Dermatology. 7th ed. St. Louis, US: Elsevier; 2013. p. 685-694.

Moertel CG, Fleming TR, Rubin J, et al. A clinical trial of amygdalin (Laetrile) in the treatment of cancer. New Engl J Med 1982;306:201-206.

Nakamura K, Watanabe M, Sawai-Tanimoto S, et al. A low catalase activity in dog erythrocytes is due to a very low content of catalase protein despite having a normal specific activity. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1998;30:823-831.

NZFSA [Internet]. Wellington: New Zealand's Ministry for Primary Industries; 2012. Cyanogenic glycosides – Information sheet [cited 2012 Nov 10]. Available from http://www.foodsafety.govt.nz/elibrary/industry/Cyanogenic Glycosides-Toxin Which.pdf

OHF [Internet]. New York: The Oxalosis & Hyperoxaluria Foundation; c1996-2011. The Oxalate Content of Food [updated 2008 Jan 9; cited 2012 Nov 9]. Available from http://ohf.org/diet.html

Pet Poison Helpline [Internet]. Bloomington: Pet Poison Helpline; 2013. Poisons [cited 2013 Jul 1]. Available from http://www.petpoisonhelpline.com/poisons/

Porterpan B. Raisins and grapes: potentially lethal treats for dogs. Vet Med 2005;100:346-350.

Robertson JE, Christopher MM, Rogers QR. Heinz body formation in cats fed baby food containing onion powder. J Am Vet Med Assoc 1998;212:1260-1266.

Rubino MJ, Davidoff F. Cyanide poisoning from apricot seeds. J Am Med Assoc 1979;241:359.

Sahi T. Hypolactasia and lactase persistence. Historical review and terminology. Scan | Gastroenterol Suppl 1994;202:1-6.

Sayre JW, Kaymakcalavu S. Hazards to health. Cyanide poisoning from apricot seeds among children in Central Turkey. New Engl J Med 1964;270:1113-1114.

Schell MM. Tremorgenic mycotoxin intoxication. Vet Med 2000;95:285-286.

Sharma RP, Salunkhe DK. Solanum glycoalkaloids. In: Cheeke PR, editor. Toxicants of Plant Origin. Volume 1. Alkaloids. Boca Raton, US: CRC Press; 1989. p. 179-236.

Shragg TA, Albertson TE, Fisher Jr CJ. Cyanide poisoning after bitter almond ingestion. Western J Med 1982;136:65-69.

Simeonova FP, Fishbein L. Hydrogen cyanide and cyanides: Human health aspects. Concise International Chemical Assessment Document 61. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004.

Singh M, Cowan S, Child G. Brunfelsia spp (Yesterday, today, tomorrow) toxicity in four dogs. Aust Vet / 2008;86:214-218.

Slater MR, Gwaltney-Brant S. Exposure circumstances and outcomes of 48 households with 57 cats exposed to toxic lily species. J Am Anim Hosp Assoc 2011;47:386-390.

Suchard JR, Wallace KL, Gerkin RD. Acute cyanide toxicity caused by apricot kernel ingestion. Ann Emerg Med 1989;32:742-744.

Van Wyk B-E, van Heerden F, van Oudtshoorn B. Poisonous Plants of South Africa. Pretoria, South Africa: Briza Publications; 2002.

Verneau KM. Debunking the Dogma: Anticonvulsant Drug (ACD) Therapy. In: Pion P, editor. Proceedings 8th Annual Veterinary Neurology Symposium; 2012; Davis, CA.

Vogel SN, Sultan TR, Ten Eyck RP. Cyanide poisoning. Clin Toxicol 1981;18:367-383.

Wedekind KJ, Kats L, Yu S, et al. Micronutrients: Minerals and Vitamins. In: Hand MS, Thatcher CD, Remillard RL, et al., editors. Small Animal Clinical Nutrition. 5th ed. Topeka, US: Mark Morris Institute; 2010. p. 107-148.

Young KL, Villar D, Carson TL, et al. Tremorgenic mycotoxin intoxication with penitrem A and roquefortine in two dogs. J Am Vet Med Assoc 2003;222:52-53.

LAST EDITED: November 2013









Common Household Foods that **Should Not** be Given to Dogs or Cats

Stéphane Bissonnette, DVM, MSc

Judith A. Taylor, DVM, DVSc, Diplomate ACVP (Clinical Pathology)

2014 Edition



Veterinary Case Consultation

Exclusive for Veterinary Team Members

- √ Technical information on products
- ✓ Nutritional advice
- ✓ Internal medicine consultation
- √ Advice on Canadian Veterinary Urolith Centre reports

1-866-567-7088